**S237602**

~~FILE~~ 4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,  
Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

STEVEN ANDREW ADELMANN,  
Defendant and Respondent.

S **SUPREME COURT  
FILED**  
OCT 4 - 2016  
Jorge Navarrete Clerk  
Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, No. E064099  
Riverside County Superior Court No. SWF1208202  
The Honorable Edward D. Webster, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL A. HESTRIN  
District Attorney  
County of Riverside

N

DONALD W. OSTERTAG  
Deputy District Attorney  
County of Riverside

AG  
y

3960 Orange Street  
Riverside, California, 92501  
Telephone: (951) 955-5400  
(951) 955-0870

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

When a defendant's probation is transferred between counties, must a petition seeking relief under Proposition 47 be filed in the county of conviction or the county receiving probation?

**NECESSITY FOR REVIEW**

There is currently a split of authority in the Court of Appeal regarding this issue. A grant of review is necessary in this case, pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1), in order to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law. Absent action by this Court, the lower courts will be

left without guidance regarding the appropriate county in which to file Proposition 47 petitions: the county of conviction or the county receiving a transfer of probation. This has resulted in, and will continue to result in, trial courts from *both* counties rejecting petitions filed by otherwise eligible petitioners, and such persons being unable to file their petitions in *any* county. Until this Court settles this important question of law—and resolves the split of published case authority in the Court of Appeal—the lower courts and the parties will be without guidance in all Proposition 47 cases where probation has been transferred between counties.

## INTRODUCTION

Penal Code<sup>1</sup> section 1170.18, subdivisions (a) and (f), requires a petition under that section be filed “before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction . . .” In apparent conflict with that statute, section 1203.9, subdivision (b), provides that when a probationer’s case is transferred between counties, “[t]he court of the receiving county shall accept the entire jurisdiction over the case effective the date that the transferring court orders the transfer.”

The lower courts have struggled with reconciling these conflicting statutes. In *People v. Curry* (2016) 1 Cal.App.5th 1073, 1081-1082 (*Curry*)—a published opinion filed on July 28, 2016—the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, held that under the plain language of section 1170.18, the petition must be filed in the county that entered the judgment of conviction.<sup>2</sup> Conversely, in the present case—a published opinion filed on August 31, 2016—the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, held that under the plain language of section 1203.9, the court of the county receiving a transfer of probation has entire jurisdiction over the case, including the filing of a petition under section 1170.18. (*People v. Adelman*

---

<sup>1</sup> All further unspecified statutory references are to the Penal Code.

<sup>2</sup> A petition for review was filed in *Curry* on September 6, 2016 (case number S237037).

(Aug. 31, 2016, E064099) \_\_\_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_\_\_ [2016 WL 4538437]  
(*Adelmann*).

Due to the lack of guidance from the higher courts, the trial courts in both *Curry* and *Adelmann* initially rejected the defendants' Proposition 47 petitions. Specifically, in *Curry*, the defendant initially attempted to file her petition in the county that received her probation, but that court rejected the petition on the grounds that it must be filed in the county that entered the judgment of conviction. (*People v. Curry, supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 1077.) Conversely, in the present case, the defendant initially attempted to file his petition in the county that entered the judgment of conviction, but that court rejected the petition on the grounds that it must be filed in the county that received his probation. (*Adelmann*, slip opn. at p. 3.)

Furthering this confusion, there are now conflicting published opinions in *Curry* and *Adelmann*, leaving the lower courts and the parties without clear guidance regarding the appropriate court in which to file Proposition 47 petitions in cases where probation has been transferred between counties. Such cases are abundant. It is necessary for this Court to secure uniformity of decision regarding this issue and settle this important question of law. Until this Court takes action, a gross injustice confronts the parties in these cases, particularly otherwise eligible petitioners who are left unable to file their petitions. Equally at risk are the scarce judicial and governmental resources that will be expended during the course of unnecessarily repeated litigation. For these reasons, the People respectfully request this Court grant review.

### **PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On August 27, 2012—in San Diego County Superior Court case number SCN307269—respondent pleaded guilty to felony possession of cocaine and oxycodone (count 1; Health & Saf. Code, § 11350) and misdemeanor driving under the influence of a drug (count 2; Veh. Code, § 23152, subd. (a).) (CT 9-12.)

On September 25, 2012, the San Diego County Superior Court granted respondent three years of formal probation. (CT 26-30.)

On September 27, 2012, respondent filed a request under section 1203.9 to have his probation transferred to Riverside County. (CT 31-32.) On December 7, 2012, respondent's request was granted and probation was transferred to the Riverside County Superior Court in case number SWF1208202. (CT 35-37.)

On January 6, 2015, respondent filed a petition for resentencing under section 1170.18, subdivision (a), in the Riverside County Superior Court. (CT 38-66.) On May 14, 2015, the People filed an opposition to the motion on the ground that section 1170.18, subdivision (a), requires the petition be filed in the San Diego County Superior Court, which is the court that entered the judgment of conviction. (CT 68-71.) The People did not argue that petitioner was ineligible for the requested relief, just that section 1170.18, subdivision (a), dictates the court in which the petition must be filed. (See CT 68-71.)

On June 19, 2015, the Riverside County Superior Court conducted a hearing regarding respondent's petition. (CT 74.) At that hearing, respondent's counsel represented that he read section 1170.18 in the same manner as the People, and for that reason he initially attempted to file the petition in the San Diego County Superior Court. (RT 5.) Respondent's counsel stated that the San Diego County Superior Court rejected the filing because the matter had been transferred to the Riverside County Superior Court. (RT 5.)

The Riverside County Superior Court granted respondent's petition. (CT 74.) In so doing, however, the court noted the lack of guidance from the appellate courts regarding the issue, and encouraged the People to file an appeal so the "Court of Appeal [can] tell us and give us clear instructions so we don't have to go through this nonsense again." (RT 6.)

On July 21, 2015, the People filed a notice of appeal. (CT 75.) On August 31, 2016—following briefing and oral argument by the parties—the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, issued a unanimous published opinion holding

that under the plain language of section 1203.9, the court of the county receiving a transfer of probation has entire jurisdiction over the case, including the filing of a petition under section 1170.18, and therefore respondent properly filed his petition in the Riverside County Superior Court. (Slip opn. at pp. 4-6, 8.)

### **STANDARD FOR GRANTING REVIEW**

This Court generally orders review only when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Supreme Court's role is to "supervise and control the opinions of the several District Courts of Appeal, each of which is acting concurrently and independently of the others, and by such supervision to endeavor to secure harmony and uniformity in the decisions . . . and in some instances [issue] a final decision by the court of last resort of some doubtful or disputed question of law." (*People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 348.) It is "emphatically the province and duty of the judicial department to say what the law is." (*Marbury v. Madison* (1803) 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 177.)



## ARGUMENT

### REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE NEEDED GUIDANCE REGARDING THE APPROPRIATE COURT IN WHICH TO FILE A PROPOSITION 47 PETITION FOLLOWING A TRANSFER OF PROBATION BETWEEN COUNTIES

Appellant respectfully requests this Court grant review to resolve the current split of authority regarding the appropriate court in which to file a Proposition 47 petition following a transfer of probation: the court in the county of conviction or the court in the county receiving probation.

Section 1170.18, subdivision (a), allows a defendant currently serving his or her sentence to petition for a recall of sentence. The statute is specific as to what court the petition must be filed in:

A person currently serving a sentence for a conviction, whether by trial or plea, of a felony or felonies who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under the act that added this section (“this act”) had this act been in effect at the time of the offense may petition for a recall of sentence *before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction in his or her case* to request resentencing in accordance with Sections 11350, 11357, or 13377 of the Health and Safety Code, or Section 459.5, 473, 476a, 490.2, 496, or 666 of the Penal Code, as those sections have been amended or added by this act.

(§ 1170.18, subd. (a), emphasis added.)

Conversely, section 1203.9, which authorizes the transfer of probation from one county to another, provides: “The court of the receiving county shall accept the entire jurisdiction over the case effective the date that the transferring court orders the transfer.” (§ 1203.9, subd. (b).)

As stated, the lower courts have struggled with reconciling these two conflicting statutes. In *Curry*, the defendant pleaded no contest in 2012 in the Napa County Superior Court to one count of felony second degree burglary and was placed on three years of formal probation. (*People v. Curry, supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 1076.) At the time of being placed on probation, the defendant was on Post Release Community Supervision (PRCS) in Alameda County. (*Ibid.*)

For that reason, the defendant requested, and the Napa County Superior Court granted, her probation be transferred to the Alameda County Superior Court under section 1203.9. (*Ibid.*) Subsequently, in 2015, the defendant filed a petition in the Alameda County Superior Court seeking to have her Napa County burglary conviction reduced to a misdemeanor under section 1170.18. (*Id.* at pp. 1076-1077.)<sup>3</sup> The Alameda County Superior Court denied the petition on the ground that defendant was required to seek the requested relief in the Napa County Superior Court. (*Id.* at p. 1077.) The defendant appealed.

The Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, affirmed, holding that the language of section 1170.18 is clear and unambiguous: “[A] ‘petition for a recall of sentence’ by a probationer, or a former probationer, is to be filed with the ‘trial court that entered the judgment of conviction.’” (*People v. Curry, supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 1076, quoting § 1170.18, subds. (a), (f).)

In the present case, respondent pleaded guilty in 2012 in the San Diego County Superior Court to, among other things, felony possession of cocaine and oxycodone and was placed on three years of formal probation. (Slip opn. at p. 2.) Subsequently, respondent requested, and the San Diego County Superior Court granted, his probation be transferred to the Riverside County Superior Court under section 1203.9. (Slip opn. at p. 2.) Respondent thereafter filed a petition in the Riverside County Superior Court seeking to have his San Diego County felony conviction reduced to a misdemeanor under section 1170.18. (Slip opn. at p. 3.) The trial court, in granting the petition, overruled the People’s objection that the petition must be filed in the San Diego County Superior Court. (Slip opn. at p. 3.) The People appealed.

---

<sup>3</sup> At the time the defendant in *Curry* filed her petition under section 1170.18 in Alameda County, she was no longer on PRCS, but rather remained solely under the supervision of probation. (See *People v. Curry, supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1076-1077 [defendant’s PRCS expired on January 27, 2015; defendant filed her request under section 1170.18 on July 2, 2015].)

The Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, affirmed, holding that under the plain language of section 1203.9, the Riverside County Superior Court had “entire jurisdiction over the case . . .” (Slip opn. at p. 4.) The court reasoned that *Curry* was distinguishable. (Slip opn. at p. 6.)<sup>4</sup> Specifically, the court was under the misimpression that *Curry* involved a transfer of PRCS under section 3460, not a transfer of probation under section 1203.9. (Slip opn. at p. 6 [“*Curry* does not apply here because it involved section 3460, not section 1203.9, which provides for the transfer of the ‘entire jurisdiction’ of a case.”].)

The Court of Appeal was incorrect in its belief that *Curry* involved a transfer of PRCS under 3460 rather than a transfer of probation under 1203.9. As discussed above, and contrary to the Court of Appeal’s belief, *Curry* involved a transfer of probation under section 1203.9. (*People v. Curry, supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 1076 [“For this reason, and because defendant was a resident of Alameda County, the Napa probation officer moved to have supervision of her probation transferred to Alameda County in accordance with section 1203.9. The Napa County Superior Court granted the motion . . . and Alameda County accepted the transfer . . .”].) The Court of Appeal’s confusion in this regard appears due to the defendant in *Curry* having been on PRCS in Alameda County (from a previous, unrelated case) at the time her probation was transferred under section 1203.9. (*People v. Curry, supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 1076.) In fact, at the time the defendant in *Curry* filed her Proposition 47 petition, she was no longer on PRCS, but was only on probation. (*Id.* at pp. 1076-1077.) Accordingly, the Court of Appeal in the present case was incorrect when it stated that *Curry* involved a transfer of PRCS under section 3460 rather than a transfer of probation under section 1203.9.

---

<sup>4</sup> As stated, *Curry* was filed July 28, 2016, the week before oral argument was held in this case. On the day *Curry* was filed, the People filed a letter acknowledging *Curry* and indicating the intention to discuss it at oral argument. At oral argument in this case, *Curry* was discussed at length by the court and both parties.

In any event, the lower courts remain in a state of confusion regarding this issue. As the trial court stated in *Curry*: “[I]f the Court of Appeal would be kind enough to give us some guidance I would appreciate it.” (*People v. Curry, supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 1083.) Similarly, in the present case, the trial court specifically urged the People to file an appeal so the “Court of Appeal [can] tell us and give us clear instructions so we don’t have to go through this nonsense again.” (RT 6.) Now that differing Districts of the Court of Appeal have published conflicting opinions on the issue, the trial courts and the parties remain without the necessary guidance. Accordingly, this Court should grant review to settle this important question of law and secure uniformity of decision. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)