IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFO	RNIA,) Supreme Court Case No.
) S237602
Plaintiff and Appellant,)
) Court of Appeal Case No.
) E064099
)
y.) Riverside County Superior
) Court Case No.
) SWF1208202 SUPREME_COURT
) FILED
STEVEN ANDREW ADELMANN,	OCT 1 9 2016
)
Defendant and Respondent.) Jorge Navarrete Clark
)
	Deputy

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appeal From the Judgment of the Riverside County Superior Court Honorable Edward Webster, Judge

> Gene D. Vorobyov, Esq., California Bar No. 200193 450 Taraval Avenue, # 112, San Francisco, CA 94116; (415) 425-2693 e-mail: gene.law@gmail.com

ARGUMENT

I.

This Court Should Deny Review Because Certain Unique Facts of This Case Make it a Poor Vehicle to Address the Question Presented for Review

Even if the issue of whether sections 1203.9 and 1170.18 can be properly read together to give the receiving court authority to consider a section 1170.18

petition is one that this Court will eventually need to decide, this is not the right case to do so.

First, Mr. Adelmann's probation was completed in September 2015.

(*Adelmann, supra,* 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 1192.) This creates an additional unique jurisdictional problem for the class of similarly-situated probationers. The transferee court's jurisdiction over a probationer ends once he or she is discharged from probation. (*Hilton v. Superior Court* (2014) 239 Cal.App.4th 766, 773.) Section 1203.9 does not provide for an automatic return of the case to the original county of conviction upon completion of probation supervision. As a result, any rule requiring filing of the resentencing petition in the original county of conviction, even in cases involving a complete jurisdictional transfer under section 1203.9, would appear to deny Proposition 47 relief to this entire class of individuals.

Second, unlike a prototypical scenario involving this issue described in *Curry*, 1 Cal.App.5th at page 1073, Mr. Adelmann actually did first go to the original court of conviction, but was rebuffed because the entire file had been transferred to Riverside County Superior Court. (RT 5.) This fact creates legal,

policy, and equitable concerns that are not likely to be replicated in most cases presenting this issue.

Third, it was never disputed that Mr. Adelmann is entitled to Proposition 47 relief. (*Adelmann*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 1192.) The prosecution has not identified any factors, as to which it would have made any practical difference whether this case was heard in San Diego County or in Riverside County. If the prosecution is claiming that there are practical reasons supporting its proffered statutory interpretation, the discussion of this issue should await a case where those alleged concerns are actually present. That is not this case.

Finally, appellant is mistaken in claiming that review should be granted because the Court of Appeal incorrectly distinguished *Curry* as involving a post-release community supervision transfer. (Petition for Review, p. 11.) While the probation transfer in *Curry* appears to have been done under section 1203.9, not a PCRS transfer under section 3460, it is a factual mistake originating in the *Curry* opinion itself. (*Curry*, *supra*, 1 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1082-1083.) The *Curry* court erroneously cited this very fact in trying to harmonize its decision with the contrary conclusion reached by Couzens & Bigelow, an authoritative treatise on Proposition 47. (*Id.* at p. 1082; see J. Richard Couzens, Tricia A. Bigelow and

Gregg L. Prickett, Sentencing California Crimes, § 25:11.) Appellant could have filed a rehearing petition in the Court of Appeal to correct that error, which does not impact the core of the Court of Appeal's analysis, but appellant failed to do so. (Cal. R. of Court 8.504, subd. (b)(3).)

To the extent the Court of Appeal did not correct the error *Curry* made, this fact alone is not a reason to grant review. The crux of the Court of Appeal's analysis is on harmonizing sections 1203.9 and 1170.18. As explained in Argument II, the Court of Appeal's analysis of that issue is right.

II.

Review Should Be Denied Because the Court of Appeal Reasonably Harmonized Sections 1203.9 and 1170.18 to Give Effect to Both Statutes and to Achieve the Wisest Policy

Review should also be denied because the Court of Appeal's resolution of the question of whether the receiving court, after a section 1203.9 full jurisdictional transfer, has the authority to hear a Proposition 47 resentencing petition was right. The Court of Appeal correctly rejected appellant's claim that sections 1203.9 and 1170.18 are in an irreconcilable conflict and, thus, one must prevail over another.

Instead, the Court of Appeal held that both statutes can be quite reasonably harmonized to authorize the superior court that has jurisdiction over the entire case to hear a section 1170.18 resentencing petition. (*Adelmann, supra,* 2 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1195-1196.) The Court of Appeal further held that such reading of both statutes is the wisest and most appropriate policy. (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal's resolution of these issues was apt and there is no reason to disturb it.

The Court of Appeal was right that reliance on plain language of Proposition 47 does not resolve this issue. (*In re Derrick B.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 535, 539 [the statutory language is the starting point of the statutory construction analysis].) Indeed, nothing in the plain language of section 1170.18 addresses the issue of whether the defendant must file a resentencing petition in the county of conviction even when the entire jurisdiction over the defendant's case has been transferred to another county pursuant to section 1203.9. Section 1203.9(b)'s command to transfer the entire jurisdiction to the transferee county could be quite plausibly read as making the transferee court "the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction" under section 1170.18, subdivision (a). (*Adelmann*, 2

Cal.App.5th at p. 1195; see also J. Richard Couzens, Tricia A. Bigelow and Gregg L. Prickett, Sentencing California Crimes, § 25:11.)

Accordingly, it was appropriate for the Court of Appeal to turn to canons of statutory interpretation to decide whether the two statutes can be properly harmonized. Because the duty of the judiciary is to interpret the law, not to write it, the courts are required to read together the statutes on the same subject, giving effect to all parts of all statutes, if possible. (*People v. Chenze* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 521, 526.) The courts also have to give "a reasonable and commonsense interpretation consistent with the apparent purpose and intention of the lawmakers, practical rather than technical in nature, which upon application will result in wise policy rather than mischief or absurdity." (*Adelmann, supra,* 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 1195, quoting *In re Reeves* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 765, 771, fn. 9.)

That is precisely what the Court of Appeal did in this case. On the one hand, the appellate court reaffirmed section 1170.18, subdivision (a)'s general requirement that a resentencing petition must be filed in the original court of conviction. The Court of Appeal merely *allowed*, but did not compel, a filing of the petition in the receiving court *if* a petitioner makes a decision to waive his

right to have the original court of conviction decide the petition by filing the petition in the receiving court. (*Adelmann*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 1196.) But on the other hand, in allowing the receiving court to decide the resentencing petition, the Court of Appeal also gave effect to section 1203.9, subdivision (b)'s command that jurisdiction is transferred in its entirety. (*Id*.)

Also, the Court of Appeal was correct in observing that appellant's proposed rule inflexibly requiring a person whose case has been completely transferred to a different court to somehow compel the original court of conviction to accept the petition is "wholly unfeasible and not an economical or practical use of judicial resources." (*Adelmann, supra,* 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 1196.)

Requiring a defendant currently on probation in the transferee jurisdiction to transfer the case back to the court of conviction to accomplish Proposition 47 resentencing, and then transfer it back to the transferee jurisdiction, is a procedure cumbersome for the courts, prosecution and defense agencies, and the defendant himself.

It must be remembered that the voters' intent in passing this initiative was to maximize non-prison alternatives for non-violent and non-serious crimes, and to channel those savings into crime prevention, victim services, and mental health and drug treatment. (*Proposition 47: Text of Proposed Law*, California Ballot Pamphlet: General Election Nov. 4, 2014 (hereafter "Pamphlet"), p. 70; see also Voter Information Guide, Gen Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) argument in favor of Prop. 47, p. 38.) Similarly, the declaratory sections of Proposition 47 reflect the voters' intent to generate money savings by reducing prison population, and to channel the resulting monetary savings to specific rehabilitation, treatment, and children's programs. (Pamphlet, p. 70.) The ballot arguments in favor of Proposition 47, which are considered evidence of voters' intent in passing an initiative, emphasized the exact same goals. (Voter Information Guide, Gen Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) argument in favor of Prop. 47, p. 38.) Appellant's proposed rule runs directly counter to these stated fiscal goals.

Finally, appellant's proposed rule becomes even more problematic when, as here, the defendant's probation has already been completed. There appears to be no legal mechanism to transfer the case back to the original court of conviction. The transferee court's jurisdiction over probationer ended when probation was complete and the probationer is discharged from probation.

(Hilton, 239 Cal.App.4th at p. 773.) Section 1203.9 does not provide for an automatic return of the case to the original county of conviction upon completion

of probation supervision. Section 1170.18, subdivision (a), cannot be construed in a way that renders section 1170.18, subdivision (f), a nullity. (*Young v. Gannon* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 209, 223 [words of a statute will not be construed to render related provisions nugatory].)

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should deny review.